Partnership for Change

Equitable Healthcare Measurement

That Supports Community Voices, Systems, and Partnerships

Powered by ATW Health Solutions



Authors

Nefertiti OjiNjideka Hemphill, PhD, MS; Knitasha V. Washington, DHA, MHA, FACHE; Ellen Schultz, MS; Muhammad Khanan Chaudhry; Nykia Rutledge; Desiree Bradley; and Rukshana Gupta.

Support for this work was provided by the Robert Wood Johnson Foundation. The views expressed here do not necessarily reflect the views of the Foundation.

Table of Contents

1. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY	3
2. KEY FINDINGS	3
3. INTRODUCTION	4
DIAGRAM 1: THEORY OF CHANGE ACTIONABLE RECOMMENDATIONS	4
4. METHODS	4
5. FINDINGS	
	_
OVERVIEW	
CURRENT MEASUREMENT PRACTICE: GAPS AND FAILURESCHANGES TO HEALTHCARE MEASURES TO BUILD COMMUNITY TRUST AND PREVENT FUTURE HARMS	
SHIFTING POWER TOWARDS EQUITABLE HEALTHCARE MEASUREMENT PROCESSES	
DIVERSE PARTNERSHIPS	_
Systems Accountability and Community Leadership	
INVESTING IN COMMUNITY CAPACITY TO LEAD EQUITABLE MEASUREMENT	
6. DISCUSSION	
7. CONCLUSION	11
8. LIMITATIONS	11
9. REFERENCES	12
10. APPENDIX	15
VOICES FROM THE COMMUNITY	16
CENTRAL AND SUB-THEMES	
STORYTELLING	16
RACE/CULTURAL SENSITIVITY	16
PATIENT-CENTERED HEALTHCARE MEASUREMENT	17
Data	
FINANCIAL STRUCTURES WITHIN HEALTHCARE MEASUREMENT SYSTEMS	
COMMUNITY	
SOCIAL DETERMINANTS OF HEALTH	_
STRUCTURAL RACISM	
MEDICAL MISTRUST	
ACCOUNTABILITY	
SHIFT OF POWER/ CHANGE	
CAPACITY BUILDING	22
11 ACKNOWI EDGMENTS	24

1. Executive Summary

The U.S. healthcare system is currently providerfocused and lacks the meaningful insight of patients and community organizations (COs) in nearly every aspect of its operation including healthcare measurement. The development of measures centered around the culture, lived-experiences, needs, and wellness goals of patients and communities are key to improving our nation's overall health. Therefore, they should be at the center of the healthcare measurement system in equitable partnership with measures developers, researchers, hospital systems, healthcare providers and government agencies. To better understand how to accomplish this partnership, COs from across the 5 U.S. regions were interviewed. The organizations provided a wealth of insight and recommendations for system-level changes across the health care measurement ecosystem. The COs also described the structural inequities, historical trauma, and

exploitation experienced within their communities, and the harm imparted by the current healthcare measurement system on marginalized communities and communities of color. The organizations explained that to resolve these issues, a holistic approach to measurement will be needed. One that embodies equitable partnership through shared decision making between COs and healthcare measurement leadership. Working together with communities brings to the forefront the lived experiences that directly impact health outcomes and allows for the identification of healthcare measures that are meaningful to communities and promote health equity and change. This report elevates community voices to the forefront of healthcare measurement, illustrating the importance of centering healthcare and its measures around patients and communities.

2. Key Findings

- Current funding structures within US hospital systems incentivize sickness and reward patient intake over wellness
 outcomes, which trap communities hardest hit by health disparities in a perpetual cycle of illness not captured by the
 healthcare measurement system.
- Historical trauma within marginalized communities and communities of color persists unaddressed and directly impact patient-provider trust and community and patient participation in the healthcare measurement system.
- Healthcare measures are largely quantitative and do not capture the context that drive the numbers, supporting the need for development of a system to systematically collect qualitative data.
- Cultural and community practices like storytelling are ignored by the current healthcare measurement system, resulting in an information gap that fails to capture the relevant experiences and metrics that inform downstream health outcomes.
- Current measures focus on weaknesses of communities rather than their assets. Community organizations are the experts on the assets and needs of communities and require a leadership role in shaping healthcare measurement to reflect the culture and values of communities.
- For communities, equitable partnership entails priority and emphasis on community voices in decision-making with key stakeholders within the healthcare measurement ecosystem and is the only way forward for development of healthcare measures that lead to improved health outcomes.
- The gap in accountability for systems change among government, funders, providers, and researchers must be resolved to ensure effective quality improvement that will promote health equity and reduce disparities in health.
- Additional resources are needed by community organizations to build capacity to engage in sustainable healthcare
 measurement work, and require flexibility in utilization and operation, in place of rigid guidelines, to best serve
 community needs.

3. Introduction

The Equitable Healthcare Measurement project builds upon the findings presented in the <u>Theory of Change for an Equitable Patient-Centered Measurement Ecosystem that Supports an Advanced Healthcare System</u> whitepaper, funded by the Robert Wood Johnson Foundation (RWJF). The Theory of Change asserts the need for a closer examination of the healthcare ecosystem to address inequities and transform measurement by gathering and responding to communities' perspectives on their healthcare needs. Within the healthcare system, measurement is a powerful tool for quality improvement. However, the existing approach to measurement does little to address the impacts of

structural racism, social determinants of health and other systemic barriers that impact patient and community wellness. Instead, the healthcare measurement and delivery systems focus payment structures on aggregate outcomes; make limited efforts to identify upstream factors that drive disparities; offer little accountability for population health management; and offer no accountability for equitable health outcomes, major health disparities, and structural racial inequities. As a result, patients, families, and caregivers experience an uncoordinated, inequitable healthcare delivery system. As such, the Theory of Change whitepaper identified the four actionable recommendations displayed in Diagram 1.

Diagram 1: Theory of Change Actionable Recommendations

Restructure the architecture and design of healthcare measure development

Foster stronger partnerships that engage and empower diverse communities and patients

Theory of Change Actionalbe Recommendations

Ensure Diversity, Equity & Inclusion (DEI) are foundational to research, patient engagement, and healthcare delivery

Reshape accountability and influence over funding decisions to center on communities of color and others who experience health disparities

Central to these recommendations are the need to uplift community voices and address how diverse community participants play a role in equitable healthcare measurement. The American Institutes for Research (AIR)'s Getting to Equitable Patient-Centered Measurement: Summary of Sharing Lessons Learned About Patient-Centered Measurement produced from pilot projects linked to the Theory of Change work, documents a series of lessons learned about engaging in measurement with teams that included patients and caregivers. As outlined in the Theory of Change whitepaper and shown through AIR's lessons learned, community voices are essential to patient-centered measurement and must be coupled with Diversity, Equity, and Inclusion (DEI) for true success. This project expands upon the Theory of Change by

considering how a roadmap for equitable patientcentered measurement could look if it incorporated community experiences, expertise, and utilized the mediums such as narratives and visual storytelling that many communities use to communicate. Developed in conjunction with this report, are two additional resources, a case study narrative and callto-action video. Respectively, they provide a more in depth look into how communities experience healthcare measurement and work to raise awareness on the need to create more opportunities for partnership between CFOs and current healthcare measurement ecosystem stakeholders. Collectively, these resources outline the changes needed from the perspectives of communities and provide a guide for equitable community partnership.

4. Methods

A search was conducted to identify communitybased organizations (CBOs) in the United States that engage in health equity and measurement work. The criteria for CBOs were expanded to Community Organizations (Cos), to include CBOs, Federally Qualified Health Center's (FQHCs), and Technical Assistance (TA) organizations. The initial combined

list of 29 CO candidates from across the five regions (West, Midwest, Northeast, Southwest, and Southeast) of the United States were contacted, fifteen of which were interviewed to provide their insights surrounding the capacity, needs, and goals of COs to support co-created measurement within

5. Findings

Overview

Through interviews and focus groups with more than fifteen-organizations, our team spoke with twentyone community leaders and staff from a diverse group of COs serving communities of color and marginalized communities from across the United States. The conversations provided rich insights into patient-centered care, equity, measurement, and community needs. Across the twelve themes (storytelling, race/cultural sensitivity, patient-centered healthcare measurement, data, financial structures within healthcare measurement systems, community, social determinants of health, structural racism, medical mistrust, accountability, shift of power/change, and capacity building) that emerged from these data, interviewees highlighted ways that current measurement systems and practices cause harm and fail to address needs within marginalized communities. When asked to discuss their perspectives on patient-centered health care measurement, DEI in healthcare measurement, partnership with measurement stakeholders, organizational role, community connection, and supports, resources, tools and platforms needed for measurement work, they called out necessary changes to drive equitable measurement, and the role communities themselves must play in making those changes (see Appendix). We discuss each of these elements of interviewees' insights with an emphasis on their recommendations for investments and changes to policies and practices necessary to build an equitable measurement system.

Current Measurement Practice: Gaps and Failures

Interviewees described many ways in which the current healthcare measurement system causes harm to marginalized communities; most prominently, by failing to address their needs and priorities. Interviewees called out the harm they experience when stakeholders from across the healthcare ecosystem exercise the power of ignoring what they don't want to hear. This happens when government agencies and researchers spend tax dollars on extensive measurement efforts, then bury results in dense, inaccessible reports, or don't report

the healthcare delivery system. Qualitative data was captured via focus groups and interviews. An inductive and deductive approach to thematic analysis strategy provided by Braun & Clarke (2006) was utilized. Themes (e.g., central, and sub-themes) were identified during the process.

some data at all. It happens when evaluators and health systems interpret metrics and make improvement recommendations without any input from the communities most affected by the measured processes and outcomes. It happens when health systems and insurers own, control access to and profit off patients' health data. And it happens when the power to make decisions based on metrics does not rest with those who are best positioned to design and implement solutions – those who are most proximal to the problems.

Interviewees emphasized the ways that current healthcare measurement systems – as with almost all other aspects of the U.S. healthcare industry ignore the long history of exploitation, neglect and trauma marginalized communities have experienced through interactions with the healthcare system. For example, the two decades of efforts to address patient safety that began with the watershed To Err is Human (2000) report have consistently framed patient safety failures as arising from inadvertent harm, without recognizing the history of intentional harm inflicted on Black, Indigenous, immigrant and other marginalized communities over decades of American healthcare delivery. Patient safety measures and improvement initiatives implemented widely across the U.S. focus on medical errors and avoidable complications resulting from systems failures (Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality, 2019). While these efforts have led to major gains in patient safety across the U.S. population (Eldridge et. al., 2022), these efforts neither acknowledge past intentional harm perpetrated against nor address long-standing health disparities within communities of color. Current patient safety measures also largely ignore the harm patients from marginalized communities experience through everyday interactions with healthcare providers and systems that lack cultural sensitivity and accountability to the communities they serve.

Interviewees called out harms such as microaggressions, disrespect, racial and ethnic biases, and communication failures that arise when providers don't speak the preferred language of the

communities they serve. They noted that patient experience of care surveys and other quality measures don't ask about these negative experiences even though they directly affect health outcomes. Interviewees also called out marginalized communities' hesitancy to complete experience of care surveys, report problems, or participate in research or improvement efforts because doing so triggers intergenerational trauma accrued over decades of interaction with what one interviewee called a "predatory" system.

Interviewees emphasized that current measurement systems' over-reliance on individual-level outcomes ignores inter-generational effects and the social conditions that drive them. This hides one of the most pervasive effects of systemic racism and marginalization, while also overlooking potentially transformative impacts from systems change efforts. When measurement doesn't account for intergenerational effects, opportunities for making lasting improvements across whole communities go unrecognized and often fizzle out for lack of funding. And when measurement ignores the social conditions that drive health disparities (whether measured through individual or communitylevel outcomes), we miss opportunities to address root causes of those disparities. Interviewees also noted that focusing solely on individuals during their interactions with the healthcare system - that is, a focus on "patients" rather than whole people or communities. Doing so ignores individual and collective strengths, values, assets, and goals. As one interviewee described the lure of quantitative data for those who hold power, "...we like to focus on measures because then we can de-humanize...we don't necessarily remain in touch with what's happening because we assign a number to a face."

Interviewees stressed ways that over-reliance on quantitative metrics renders invisible their communities' cultures, assets, and values, particularly when those metrics reflect what matters to leaders within White-dominated healthcare, policymaking, and funding institutions. They emphasized that numbers alone are not enough to understand the health and wellbeing of their communities (or any communities) and that reductionist measurement strips local and cultural context from their healthcare experiences and outcomes. The Urban Indian Health Institute, part of the Seattle Indian Health Board, has called such practices "data genocide" (Urban Indian Health

Institute, 2021). They point to unequal distribution resources during the COVID-19 pandemic as an example of how Indigenous communities are harmed when data used to distribute resources do not reflect, or even acknowledge, Indigenous people or cultural identity.

Finally, interviewees noted that overreliance on data serves as a tool for procrastination, a way to stay stuck in the planning and studying phases of change efforts without acting to meaningfully improve health and wellbeing within marginalized communities. Investments to gather, improve or analyze data also typically flow to already well-resourced organizations for technology and professional services most often delivered by White-dominated organizations that lack local community context. In addition, even when measurement or improvement experts ask members of marginalized communities for input or invite collaboration, they often fail to adequately compensate community members and often devalue lived experiences while prioritizing professional degrees in decision-making. One interviewee recounted such an experience, "I came across a publication from our scale work...not one communitybased organization was one of the co-authors of that. So, everybody got fed, got valued. But not us, our voice, used, taken and exploited to value and prop up other people's careers, but not our own."

These vast arrays of harms cited across community organizations as well-known points of failure for the current healthcare measurement systems, continue to persist unresolved. Measures exist for the purpose of improvement and must be expanded and revised to include the concerns and experiences of those directly affected and heaviest hit by health disparities and marginalization.

Changes to Healthcare Measures to Build Community Trust and Prevent Future Harms

Interviewees emphasized that acknowledging harm is as a necessary first step toward building trust between marginalized communities and healthcare providers, leaders, or other stakeholders. They underscored that healing requires those who have experienced harm and those who caused harm to together face the past, build trust, and move forward in a different way. With respect to measurement, this means ensuring that measures of healthcare quality, safety and equity acknowledge past harm, hold stakeholders accountable for current harm and failures, and that all healthcare stakeholders

acknowledge the harm caused by measurement itself

As examples of acknowledging and repairing harm, interviewees emphasized the need to hold health systems and providers accountable for providing culturally sensitive and equitable care by measuring patients' experiences of disrespect, microaggressions and bias. They also insisted on accountability for providers to deliver compassionate care to all patients, for providers and health systems to recognize that everyone has a right to excellent healthcare, for officials to take action to address health disparities, and for insurers to make their budgets, profits, and health plan coverage public. This means using measurement to create incentives for systems to close health disparities gaps by addressing root causes of those disparities and developing competencies and policies that ensure equitable care delivery. Interviewees contrasted such use of measurement to current policy which they described as incentivizing health systems to profit off inequities. As one interviewee described, "we don't pay for health, we don't pay for wellness, we don't pay for equity, we pay for sick[ness]." Another interviewee put it more bluntly, "People make money on our issues; they don't really want our people to [recover]."

Despite 20 years of widespread quality measurement efforts across healthcare, many measurement efforts still fail to examine or report health disparities by race or ethnicity, in part due to incomplete data. The National Committee for Quality Assurance reported that in 2019, a large majority of commercial health plans lacked race and ethnicity data for more than half their members, while a substantial proportion of Medicaid and Medicare plans also lacked complete race and ethnicity data for their beneficiaries (Harrington et al., 2021). These data gaps block even the most basic examination of racial and ethnic health disparities among most of the American population with public or private insurance. Even when data on health disparities are available, the persistent nature of these disparities attests to the inadequacy of reporting alone as a health equity strategy. For example, the Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality (AHRQ) recently published its 19th annual healthcare quality and disparities report. In that time, AHRQ reports that health disparities improved (meaning a narrower gap between quality measure scores for racial and ethnic minority populations compared to the White

population) for fewer than 10% of measures across all racial and ethnic groups (range 2% to 10%) (Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality, 2021; Plott et al., 2021).

Since 2020, measure developers, policymakers and other stakeholders have devoted more attention to individual-level measures of health equity (State of Rhode Island Department of Health, 2022; RAND Health Care, 2021) and strategies for using measurement to advance equity. Examples of system-level measures of equity are far fewer and earlier in development. In its Guide to Racial and Ethnic Equity Systems Indicators (2021), Strive Together defines system-level equity indicators as, "a measurement (both qualitative and quantitative) that reveals inequities in how resources, decisionmaking power and opportunities are distributed to inform policies and practices within institutions, organizations and programs that are interdependent and/or related." The guide proposes a set of individual- and system-level indicators to drive equity in educational opportunities (the guide's focus) alongside adjacent measures that address factors influencing education, such as housing, health, food security, inclusive communities, and the legal system. While not focused specifically on health equity, this guide offers an example of a holistic approach to measurement that balances quantitative data with qualitative information, examines both individual and system-level outcomes, integrates social determinants of health and incentivizes addressing root causes of inequities.

Interviewees also wanted to see measures that assess how well providers, health systems and insurers are meeting patients' goals and needs and addressing social determinants of health that drive communities' health outcomes. Such goal-directed measures offer one way to address the tension between desire for standardized measures and the need for flexible measures tailored to local context, both called out as important by interviewees. Recent efforts to develop person-driven outcome measures (Mohanty et al., 2022) offer one avenue for assessing and incentivizing goal-directed care while allowing flexibility for each patient to determine what's most important to their own health. Implementing such measures will require changes to both clinical practice (to discuss patients' goals in a culturally competent and respectful manner) and quality measurement (to document goals and assess progress toward them).

Interviewees emphasized the need for a broader understanding of measurement – one that includes stories alongside data, reflects local traditions and context, and addresses mental, emotional, spiritual, economic, and racial needs in tandem with physical needs. This contrasts with current healthcare quality measures which rely almost exclusively on quantitative data, most of it generated and owned by healthcare systems, insurers, or government agencies. Measures that rely on patient-generated data, such as responses to experience of care surveys, place burdens on patients by asking them to complete surveys when and how (e.g., via mailed or phone surveys) it's convenient for health systems, not for patients themselves. Typical response rates below 50% attest to the lack of relevance and inconvenience of these methods. To incentivize addressing root causes of health inequities, interviewees called for measuring the social conditions that influence individual and community health.

In contrast, current measurement practice typically ignores these conditions, or uses them to risk adjust measure scores to avoid penalizing providers or health systems for delivering care to patients with higher levels of social risk for poor health outcomes (National Quality Forum, 2021). However, doing so essentially excuses these stakeholders from addressing health disparities or the root causes of systemic racism, economic deprivation and intergenerational marginalization that cause them (Sheingold et al., 2021).

Shifting Power Towards Equitable Healthcare Measurement Processes

To mitigate harm caused by measurement practices and policies, interviewees called for transparency throughout the entirety of the measurement process, not only in reporting end results (where transparency is also frequently lacking). This means making each stage of the measurement process open, inclusive, and collaborative, from the earliest stages of defining why to undertake measurement, through developing and selecting measures, collecting, and analyzing data, making sense of what measure results mean and ultimately acting in response to those results. Interviewees noted the importance of frequent, easy-to-understand information communicated in visual as well as written form.

However, interviewees emphasized that sharing information alone is not enough; a truly equitable measurement process requires partnership, shared power and ultimately community leadership. This dovetails with recent work by ATW Health Solutions to develop a Theory of Change (2021) achieving equity measurement. With support from the Robert Wood Johnson Foundation, the team interviewed more than 50 key informants, representing healthcare executives, funders, measure developers, researchers as well as many patient advisors and community-based organizations. These stakeholders identified several key strategies for fostering an equitable, patient-centered measurement ecosystem. These included building partnerships among researchers, measure developers and patient communities who experience health inequities; integrating patients and caregivers representing diverse communities throughout measure development, endorsement, and use; creating accountability systems to affirm diversity and inclusion of people with lived experience throughout measurement processes; and ultimately diversifying the measurement workforce. We discuss communities' roles in equitable measurement in greater detail in the next section.

Diverse Partnerships

Interviewees made clear that measurement that drives equity must itself be equitable. Only when there is equity in who develops and selects measures, collects, owns, and interprets data, and acts in response to metrics will measurement be capable of making healthcare more equitable. This means that communities who experience racism and other forms of marginalization must be partners in all measurement efforts – and the change efforts informed by measurement— so they can tell their own stories.

Over the last several years measure developers and policymakers have increasingly recognized the importance of measuring what matters to patients and communities, and of partnering with patients and caregivers throughout measurement efforts. With support from the Robert Wood Johnson Foundation, the American Institutes for Research developed, and pilot tested a set of guiding principles for patient-centered measurement that reflects what patients say matters most to their health and well-being (American Institutes for Research, 2017). This work showed that partnering with patients and family caregivers throughout all aspects of measurement

(from development through testing, implementation and use) is necessary to ensure that measures reflect what matters to patients and are used in ways that ultimately benefit patients and their communities (Robert Wood Johnson Foundation, 2020). More recently, the National Quality Forum in its 2021 strategic plan called for more consistently engaging patients and families throughout measure development (National Quality Forum, 2021) and the Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services (CMS) developed a toolkit for how to engage patients and families in measure development (Rainmakers Strategic Solutions, 2022).

While these efforts represent a big step forward, interviewees made clear that patient and family engagement in measurement alone is not sufficient. To develop a system of equitable measurement, the patients and family members who partner in healthcare measurement work must represent marginalized communities and must have decision making authority. Diversity of patients and caregivers' partners has not vet received adequate attention within the measurement field, although some other systems transformation efforts have worked to build partnerships with patients and caregivers who have lived experience with racism and marginalization. For example, a group of community champions with lived experience of health inequities who partnered in the 100 million Healthier Lives initiative developed a toolkit to help organizations work toward more equitable partnerships (Community Commons, 2020).

Systems Accountability and Community Leadership Interviewees stressed, too, moving beyond partnerships to create systems that route accountability back into the hands of the communities. One interviewee summed this up: "We don't need contract care consultants coming in to manage our hospitals, we need home-grown leadership." They underscored that healthcare measurement won't ensure health system accountability to communities without community oversight. This aligns with recent work by the American Institutes for Research, which published a set of five principles for using shared measurement to align healthcare, public health and human services with communities' priorities and needs (Hilliard-Boone et al., 2022). These principles include using measurement to create accountability to communities for addressing root causes. The principles also emphasize that accountability

requires sharing power by ensuring community members have decision making authority throughout the measurement process, including defining why and how to use measurement. Ultimately, interviewees emphasized that achieving equitable measurement requires community leadership.

In one example of community-led measurement, Native Coast Salish communities from the state of Washington developed and piloted a set of Indigenous Health Indicators to reflect aspects of community health important to their people (Donatuto et al., 2016). These included community connection, natural resource security, cultural use, education, self-determination, and resilience. In a second example, a group of youth advocates in Chicago's South Shore neighborhood, a predominantly Black community located near the University of Chicago, collected data from residents about the community's needs and assets and their vision for a more equitable future (Free Root Operation, 2022). They integrated this quantitative and qualitative information into a report developed by and for South Shore residents highlighting how they defined key elements of a thriving community, including accessible housing, transportation, education, leisure, and healthy resources. Partnering with communities to incorporate these measures illustrates the importance of community-led healthcare measurement systems and the increased capacity for change.

Investing in Community Capacity to Lead Equitable Measurement

Interviewees were clear: policymakers, insurers and philanthropies that typically fund measurement efforts must make investments to develop capacity and support staffing within CFOs so they can partner on and lead measurement efforts. One such example is the Patient-Centered Outcomes Research Institute's investment to develop research fundamental training (2021) to prepare patients and other stakeholders to engage in research. The Urban Institute's Elevate Data for Equity project (2022) highlights several other examples of training to enhance community capacity for using data, including a Neighborhood Leadership Training program in Kansas City that taught residents how to use a locally developed health data platform to advocate for community health improvements.

To avoid perpetuating measurement practices that harm marginalized communities, representatives of

these communities must be a part of – or lead – training development and delivery. For example, the New York Times recently featured Indigenous scientists' efforts to train more data scientists within their own communities as a necessary step toward data sovereignty (Imbler, 2021; Rainie et al., 2017). In addition to training, interviewees called out needed investments in technical assistance, technology, staffing and workforce development. Communities have clearly articulated

what the research evidence continues to show, which is that the current healthcare measurement system falls drastically short of capturing the relevant factors that impact their overall health and wellness. Equitable healthcare measurement requires a shift in power dynamics and communities are ready to engage within leadership roles to ensure the accuracy and integrity of improved and positive healthcare measurement systems, processes, metrics, and outcomes.

6. Discussion

Across organizations the conversation around healthcare measurement consistently triggered experiences of deeply rooted trauma, silencing, marginalization, and exclusion from the healthcare measurement process. Communities articulated the need for shared power in measurement development, healthcare systems accountability, provider training and funding allocation. Interviewees discussed the importance of incorporating cultural practices such as storytelling and shared narratives into how healthcare metrics are captured and reflected in the types of measures developed. The importance of holistic measurement was repeated again and again, emphasizing what research shows about social determinants of health and the impact of lived experience on health outcomes. The findings in this report illustrate that marginalized communities suffering the most from health disparities, rightfully, hold little faith in the current healthcare system and the metrics that it employs. The system has been resigned to a failure in the minds of communities, as it not only perpetuates a cycle of sickness and systemic racism; it also acts to harm through the lack of wellness, quality care, and resolve that its inadequacy denies communities.

Despite the neglect, communities articulated a genuine interest in a shifting of power and a leadership role within the healthcare measurement process and ecosystem. Interviewees also described equitable healthcare measurement as a restoration of balance and a sharing of power, between communities and the healthcare system. They articulated the distinction between inclusion in the process as an "advisory member" versus that of a "decision maker," with the latter being necessary for true equitable partnership. The importance of community leadership is grounded in the expertise of lived experience. Interviewees stated repeatedly throughout each interview session that the system

cannot capture what it does not know or understand, meaning communities and patients are the experts on their needs and experiences, and must be a part of the measurement process and overall healthcare goal setting. Inclusion of community voices in the healthcare measurement process has the ability to improve cultural awareness within the healthcare system and among those that use the system including, patient care providers, payers, government agencies, funders and current measure developers. This sensitivity is key to the reflection of community values and preferred outcomes within the healthcare measurement system.

As highlighted above and across previous reports, equitable community partnership is central to systems change in the healthcare measurement process. According to interviewees a major part of that shift results from the enactment of leadership accountability and continuous evaluation of process. Communities stated loud and clear that they are uninterested in symbolic progress and continuation of the perpetual planning phase. To the contrary, communities are demanding meaningful change that will bring about healthy communities, increase health equity, improve health disparities, and build lasting trust and equitable partnerships between the healthcare systems and communities.

Future work should include the sharing of the findings within this report with members of the healthcare measurement ecosystem and CFOs to promote equitable partnership for change through a learning collaborative designed to stimulate dialogue and understanding between stakeholder groups. Additionally, CFOs should engage in coalition-building around equitable healthcare measurement to elevate community voices, systems, and partnerships. Finally, next steps should also include engagement of both stakeholder groups in the development of a strategic plan to promote

meaningful systems change within equitable healthcare measurement.

7. Conclusion

Healthcare measurement should not cause harm but does in many marginalized communities as illustrated by the interviewees in the contents of this report. Attenuation of these effects can only be accomplished by a holistic systems change approach, which involves the inclusion of communities as equitable partners within the healthcare measure system. Understanding the lived experience of healthcare system users outside of their health care visit is truly critical to developing solutions that are designed to address the whole individual and not just the disease. Therefore, in the

same way that comprehensive care is important, so is comprehensive measurement and it requires an increase in cultural sensitivity, training, humility, and competency among members of the healthcare measurement ecosystem. Interviewees across all the participating COs expressed a willingness to engage in equitable partnership with measures developers for the purpose of co-creation to support their respective communities. This report is a call-to-action for members of the healthcare ecosystem to engage in equitable partnership for systems change and create a measurement system that leads to optimal health, safety, and wellness for all.

8. Limitations

A major limitation of this project was timeline, which impacted time available for partnership building with community-focused organizations around health care measurement, recruitment, and data collection. A

second limitation is the opportunity to speak directly with community members from each organization. Most participants work within CFOs, however, speaking directly with community members may have provided additional insight into community needs and relevant metrics.



Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality. (2019, September 7). *Measurement of Patient Safety*. Patient Safety Network. Retrieved August 11, 2022, from https://psnet.ahrq.gov/primer/measurement-patient-safety

Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality. (2021). *National Healthcare Quality and Disparities Report: Executive Summary*. Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality. Retrieved August 11, 2022, from https://www.ahrq.gov/sites/default/files/wysiwyg/research/findings/nhqrdr/2021qdr-final-es.pdf

American Institutes for Research. (2017, April). *Principles for making health care measurement patient-centered*. American Institutes for Research. Retrieved August 12, 2022, from https://www.air.org/sites/default/files/Patient-Centered-Measurement-Principles-April-2017.pdf

Bailit, M., & Kanneganti, D. (2022, March 21). A typology for health equity measures. Health Affairs. Retrieved August 12, 2022, from

https://www.healthaffairs.org/do/10.1377/forefront.20220318. 155498?utm_medium=email&utm_source=Newsletter&utm_c ampaign=HASU%3A%2B3-27-

22&utm_content=New%2BPodcast%2BEpisode%3A%2BThe %2BHistory%2Bof%2BMental%2BHealth%2BPolicy&utm_ter m=bailit&vgo_ee=T9CnVEhIXtliOBsrX92%2By%2Beqn8dpg8 cCb50he9zBM7WOj6Aa8x6MyyxuoZugIHBE

Community Commons. (2020, October 9). Engaging people with lived experience toolkit. Community Commons. Retrieved August 12, 2022, from https://www.communitycommons.org/collections/Engaging-Lived-Experience-Toolkit

Donatuto, J., Campbell, L., & Gregory, R. (2016). Developing responsive indicators of indigenous community health. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, *13*(9), 899. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph13090899

Eldridge, N., Wang, Y., Metersky, M., Eckenrode, S., Mathew, J., Sonnenfeld, N., Perdue-Puli, J., Hunt, D., Brady, P. J., McGann, P., Grace, E., Rodrick, D., Drye, E., & Krumholz, H. M. (2022). Trends in adverse event rates in hospitalized patients, 2010-2019. *JAMA*, 328(2), 173. https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.2022.9600

Free Root Operation. (2022). *Our Community: A Data Project Re-imagining South Shore*. Free Root Operation. Retrieved August 12, 2022, from https://www.freerootoperation.com/dataproject

Harrington, R., Washington, D., Paliani, S., Thompson, K., Rouse, L., & Anderson, A. C. (2021, September 9). *A new effort to address racial and ethnic disparities in care through Quality Measurement*. Health Affairs. Retrieved August 11, 2022, from

https://www.healthaffairs.org/do/10.1377/forefront.20210907. 568444/full/

Hilliard-Boone, T., Firminger, K., Dutta, T., Cowans, T., DePatie, H., Maurer, M., Schultz, E., Castro-Reyes, P., Richmond, A., Muhammad, M., Pathak-Sen, E., & Powell, W. (2022). Stakeholder-driven principles for advancing equity through shared measurement. *Health Services Research*. https://doi.org/10.1111/1475-6773.14031

Imbler, S. (2021, June 29). *Training the next generation of Indigenous Data Scientists*. The New York Times. Retrieved August 12, 2022, from

https://www.nytimes.com/2021/06/29/science/indigenous-data-microbiome-science.html?referringSource=articleShare

Institute of Medicine (US) Committee on Quality of Health Care in America, Kohn, L. T., Corrigan, J. M., & Donaldson, M. S. (Eds.). (2000). *To Err is Human: Building a Safer Health System*. National Academies Press (US).

Lavelle, M., & Frazier, K. (2021). Getting to Equitable Patient-Centered Measurement: Summary of Sharing Lessons Learned About Patient-Centered Measurement.

Maguire, M., & Delahunt, B. (2017). Doing a Thematic Analysis: A Practical, Step-by-Step Guide for Learning and Teaching Scholars. AISHE-J, 9, 3351. http://ojs.aishe.org/index.php/aishe-j/article/view/3354

Mohanty, S. A., & Fulmer, T. (2022, June 13). *Person-driven outcome measures help achieve equitable outcomes*. Health Affairs. Retrieved August 12, 2022, from

https://www.healthaffairs.org/do/10.1377/forefront.20220609. 309858/full/

National Quality Forum. (2021). A Strategic Plan for Achieving The Care We Need. National Quality Forum. Retrieved August 12, 2022, from

https://www.google.com/url?sa=t&rct=j&q=&esrc=s&source=web&cd=&ved=2ahUKEwi0lcyf1sH5AhV1g4kEHW1ZAksQFnoECA4QAQ&url=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.qualityforum.org%2FAbout_NQF%2F2021_Strategic_Plan.aspx&usg=AOvVaw0rAZMrQcU-nLESbR3r1xe

National Quality Forum. (2021, July). *Social Risk Trial Final Report*. National Quality Forum. Retrieved August 12, 2022, from

https://www.qualityforum.org/Publications/2021/07/Social_Risk_Trial_Final_Report.aspx

Patient-Centered Outcomes Research Institute. (2021, November 6). Research fundamentals: Preparing you to successfully contribute to research. Patient-Centered Outcomes Research Institute. Retrieved August 12, 2022, from https://www.pcori.org/engagement/researchfundamentals

Plott, C. F., Thornton, R. L. J., Dankwa-Mullan, I., Punwani, E., Karunakaram, H., Rhee, K., Craig, K. J. T., & Sharfstein, J. M. (2021, April 26). *New Hospital Rankings Assess Hospitals' contributions to community health with a focus on equity.* Health Affairs. Retrieved August 11, 2022, from

https://www.healthaffairs.org/do/10.1377/forefront.20210423. 191852/full/

Rainie, S. C., Rodriguez-Lonebear, D., & Martinez, A. (2017). *Policy brief indigenous data sovereignty in the United States*. University of Arizona Native Nations Institute. Retrieved August 12, 2022, from https://nni.arizona.edu/application/files/1715/1579/8037/Polic y_Brief_Indigenous_Data_Sovereignty_in_the_United_States.pdf

Rainmakers Strategic Solutions. (2022, April). *Person and family engagement toolkit: A guide for measure developers*. Measures Management System. Retrieved August 12, 2022, from https://mmshub.cms.gov/sites/default/files/Guide-PFE-Toolkit.pdf

RAND Health Care. (2021, May). *Developing Health Equity Measures*. Assistant Secretary for Planning and Evaluation. Retrieved August 12, 2022, from https://aspe.hhs.gov/sites/default/files/migrated_legacy_files/200651/developing-health-equity-measures.pdf

Robert Wood Johnson Foundation. (2020). *Transforming Measurement for Better Care: Lessons learned from patient-centered measurement pilots*. American Institutes for Research. Retrieved August 12, 2022, from https://www.air.org/sites/default/files/PCM-Pilots-Key-Findings-Recs-May-2020.pdf

Sheingold, S., Zuckerman, R., DeLew, N., & Sommers, B. D. (2021, July 28). *Health equity and value-based payment systems: Moving Beyond Social Risk Adjustment*. Health Affairs. Retrieved August 12, 2022, from https://www.healthaffairs.org/do/10.1377/forefront.20210726. 546811/full/

State of Rhode Island Department of Health. (2022). *Rhode Island Health Equity Measures*. State of Rhode Island Department of Health. Retrieved August 12, 2022, from https://health.ri.gov/data/healthequity/

Strive Together. (2021). A guide to racial and ethnic equity systems indicators. Salesforce. Retrieved August 12, 2022, from

https://strivetogether.my.salesforce.com/sfc/p/#4P000000hKd h/a/4P000000QYPa/XTDg5bRspJPGpxKQ5d1E_laxcNPrmfS Ifv89QzMPHno

Urban Indian Health Institute. (2021, February 15). *Data genocide of American Indians and Alaska Natives in COVID-19 data*. Urban Indian Health Institute. Retrieved August 11, 2022, from https://www.uihi.org/projects/data-genocide-of-american-indians-and-alaska-natives-in-covid-19-data/

Urban Institute. (2022). *Training to use data for Community Improvement*. Urban Institute. Retrieved August 12, 2022, from https://www.urban.org/invest-data-capacity/storiesfield/training-use-data-community-improvement#healthequity

Washington, K. V., Schultz, E., Bradley, D., Durrah, H., & Frazier, K. (2021, August 6). Theory of change for an equitable, patient-centered measurement ecosystem that supports an advanced healthcare system. ATW Health Solutions. Retrieved August 12, 2022, from https://atwhealth.com/thelatest/theory-of-change-for-an-equitable-patient-centered-measurement-ecosystem-that-supports-an-advanced-healthcare-system



Voices from the community

Central and Sub-themes

Analysis of the interviews and focus group sessions identified several central themes (e.g., story-telling, social determinants of health, capacity building, medical mistrust, race/cultural sensitivity, patient-centered healthcare measurement, data, community, accountability, structural racism, and shift of power/change, financial structures within healthcare measurement systems) and sub-themes. These reflect the issue areas raised by interviewees when asked to discuss their perspectives on patient-centered health care measurement; DEI in healthcare measurement; measurement partners; organizational role and community connection; and supports, resources, tools and platforms needed for measurement work.

Storytelling

Subthemes: media

One interviewee described storytelling through art, film, photography, podcasting, and oral storytelling as powerful ways to re-tell marginalized communities' stories and combat stigma and discrimination. In addition to traditional research methods, storytelling can highlight a community's wealth of culture, shed light on a community that is otherwise stigmatized, and empower community members. The interviewee anticipated how communities' stories could be used by researchers and measurement developers to better understand communities' challenges and health needs and to improve healthcare measurement.

"There are so many folks in my community that are afraid or feel ashamed or have that stigma and they can't speak for themselves...There's so much negativity that can be said about my community, but there's also so much good and wealth that we have in our community that is often not spoken about."

Using storytelling to give space and voice to community members can also help researchers and measurement developers further understand and assess a community's health through its history and social determinants. Interviewees suggested capturing the intergenerational impact of disease in the form of in-depth stories and using social media to communicate the health inequities that communities face. Often, those outcomes are exacerbated when examined by race.

"Involving the community through oral storytelling, beyond surveys and quantitative ways of thinking, is a quality way to engage families 'long term."

"I think that really humanizes the whole experience, when we're able to be like, let's really evaluate this person's experience, they gave this response... they send in a video or they send in an audio recording of what happened that day, and any type of complaint or experience. How their insurance was billed out or how they have to pay, or how their medication was given to them, or how the nurse treated them, or the doctor. So much can be changed if we really are able to be more responsive to those types of experiences."

"Looking at intergenerational trauma, if we're able to look at that as not just an individual, but it's the long-term generational impact of illnesses of disease in the family, I really think like when we're able to get really in-depth stories, then we're able to really get the experience and the real front line how it is when you're in that world."

"I believe in using current platforms to get at what we need to get at... maybe make regular two to three-minute videos that are impactful, that are through social media streams that people can just click on to get information and education real quick where my five [year] old could understand like, oh wow! But if I'm Black, it's even worse, right?

Race/Cultural Sensitivity

Subthemes: bias and discrimination in healthcare systems

The lack of cultural knowledge and sensitivity among healthcare providers was continually highlighted by interviewees across multiple organizations. Interviewees discussed the need for cultural provider training to improve patient-provider interactions and communication. Interviewees explained how lack of understanding leads to bias, which directly impacts healthcare seeking behavior, patient experience, and quality of care. Topics such as languages, community history, and racial micro-aggressions were identified as areas for improvement.

"[If] you're not proximate to the communities and you don't understand the why of communities that suffer from disparity and inequity, then how can you really work through a process that actually is measuring real outcomes?" "The purpose of that [project] is to create a black woman community-led process, creating a patient-reported experience measure and quality improvement process that holds hospitals and providers accountable to disrespect,

racial micro-aggressions and those other things that just totally sour somebody's experience. The least they can do is sour an experience, and the worst that they can do is create these bias dynamics where lives are at stake, where moms and babies are dying because of this neglect. This disrespect is a kind of overall impact of bias, that is not measured and is never included in payment systems."

"If you as a provider, feel like there's something else to address on top of what the patient wants to address, then you can take a lead on that, but minimizing someone's language or someone's pain because of whatever biases you have, it makes it difficult for these patients to come forward, and I know some patients feel like they're stuck with their providers, because of the insurance that they have, so they're just defeated, and they don't go to the doctors again, and so they end up getting sicker."

"It's about understanding all of these different factors that go into that patient and also being able to effectively communicate with that patient. Really being able to listen and hear and meet the patient where they're at. Understanding that they live in a food desert, they can't access [healthy] types of foods or they're not the ones that are the cook in the family. So, they don't have that influence on how much sodium they eat, or what they're eating."

"I think we need training centers for folks to have more skills on how to be a community organizer and be engaged, and be culturally aware, and know the histories of the community. It's different in each community, and the history and the impacts are so different. We need folks that are trained to have that relationship building between community frontline grassroots organizations and professional healthcare professionals."

"So, if we're gonna lead a patient-centered measurement tool, you gotta lead with race, because if we can solve for health disparity around racial lines, everybody else benefits from it. If we can focus on the least and the most marginalized, like we need to, I feel like that's what measurement tools begin to look like when you have a true focus on the margins

Creating better tools to measure patients' lived experiences in healthcare and patient-selected healthcare outcomes, is essential to not only equitable healthcare measurement but also more equitable healthcare systems. When patients feel as though they are not understood by their healthcare provider, they are less likely to seek care, which can result in worse health outcomes. Despite the significant impact that discrimination and lack of racial and cultural sensitivity have on patients' experiences, these factors are often not measured and considered when investigating non-clinical indicators that contribute to health.

Patient-Centered Healthcare Measurement

Subthemes: patients as experts of their experiences, integration of the patient voice in measurement

Across organizations, interviewees called attention to the importance of transforming care and measurement to be more patient-centered. Interviewees shared that providers' often disregard the patient voice instead of collaborating with them to ensure that they are meeting patients' needs and molding care based on what patient's value.

"We need to have patients do the metrics, not a provider, but before we get to the metrics, providers should be able to listen to the patients. The next question is, what is it that you really want? So based on what you want, that will be what a provider gives to them. Then, we will go back as a provider to measure the services that we provided from what the patient wants. That is what we call the patient centered [care]."

"I think [patient centered] would actually ask them what their

measures are, and not to use that word measures, but from a real view, spiritually, emotionally, mentally, economically, racially. How do we build that and stop trying to establish a number on a scale."

"Being able to make [care] patient-led would make huge strides in that diversity and inclusion, and then additionally, in terms of measurement."

According to the interviewees, a journey to patient-centered health care measurement will require the health care system and its providers to foster effective communication with patients, listen to and elevate their voices, and integrate their input into measurement processes and health care delivery. Within this, it is important for providers to understand that patients are the experts of their lived experiences.

"Community is the expert, I'm the expert, I know what I need, I got no problem telling you what I need, however, let me tell the person what I need that could bring about the change. Put me in that room."

Data

Subthemes: representative healthcare metrics, data systems

Current healthcare metrics rarely incorporate patient experiences or perspectives, and therefore lack the outcome measures most relevant to patients. This gap in representation constitutes an absence of relevant indicators to

help guide the health care system toward meaningful metrics that can inform the development of effective solutions. Additionally, the lack of disaggregate data also plays a role in the needs of individual communities getting lost during the measurement process. The inclusion of community voices and individual experiences in addition to numerical health data are paramount to understanding the relevant factors that mediate health. Interviewees from across organizations describe this and highlight the importance of co-measurement creation with communities and note that the healthcare system prioritizes financial profit over the development of systemic structures to ensure that existing measures are inclusive of vulnerable populations.

"You're asking us about needs, but you also have to write down what are our assets? Where is our power? Everybody on this call is transforming lives, changing systems daily, we could all tell you 150 people that we saved their life. That doesn't show up on the data. And when you think about a patient, you're thinking about their vulnerability, their weakness, and their needs. You're not measuring the assets, the resiliency, the effectiveness. We talk about bright spots, no matter how bad the data is, there is always success stories. And we don't measure those. We're looking at only one side of the coin."

"There's a story to the numbers, right. There's context versus if you just get...at the number. But what about the complications of having a morbidity experience at birth? What does that mean for that family? Looking further into interviewing people...their partners? ...how does life change? ...it's not just a singular event...I think that measurement doesn't get at that...so that's something we're trying to do better as we're developing these measures. How do we make

space...to follow the guidelines that people say is 'worthy' of a measurement."

"In Maine, we have a data system that for a long time just looked at averages, and that was not helpful really at all, and so there's a new bill in the legislature right now to disaggregate all that data so that it is looking at race, it is looking at a variety of different things, but it is focusing on the people that need the most attention and not just averaging things out."

"Sometimes I feel like what happens is that we like to focus on measures because then we can de-humanize, and we don't necessarily remain in touch with what's happening, because we assign a number to a face."

"Okay, so when we give you collective data quantitatively, then that doesn't include everybody, 'cause our measures suck. Then we have these focus group interviews, and you say, yeah, that's not enough, 'cause you know we can't get a p-value. Then we do both, and [the response is] okay, thanks so much. You've just confirmed what we knew, we'll talk about it. So, when we talk as a group, we're constantly sitting in the plan cycle. We never move to act. Because we, in my opinion, [do not] wanna move from our capitalistic view."

"I think the Maslow's hierarchy of needs kind of things, anything where there is food, shelter, safety, anxiety, I think that's a data point that could easily be measured. Do you have this? Are you experiencing these things? So perhaps something like that could be helpful, so that you get the individual's perspective about the larger concern. The community concerns."

Financial Structures Within Healthcare Measurement Systems

Subthemes: funding restrictions, allocation of funding, budgeting limitations, eligibility, compensation

Across organizations, interviewees expressed similar sentiments of frustration and the need for changes related to systemic financial structures within healthcare measurement systems. They described challenges associated with securing and maintaining grants and other programmatic resources as well as the lack of accountability and oversight from funders and the government to ensure equitable practices and incentivize outcome-driven approaches. They articulated the redundancy of having to continually make the case for funding support in communities hit hardest. Also highlighted were issues in funding priorities, illustrating examples where patients and communities were second tier to more frivolous hospital system investments. Interviewees also provided constructive feedback, offering recommendations for how funders could better support organizational work and improve the current funding system and processes, and how hospital systems could better support patients and community needs.

"Wish there weren't so many restrictions on how funding is allocated or barriers to the budget, because then it will allow us to give even more resources to communities and people that we work with."

"So how about we take that message to the decision makers. It has to hit their pocket. Maybe we think about from a federal perspective, legislatively, if you are a healthcare system and you don't improve your metrics for [a] population, you're not

gonna be allowed to bill at this level. I would love to believe that we could transform people and teach them about equity and get them to love each other, but there are some people that they only care about money."

"Because we don't pay for outcomes, we pay for outputs. We pay for people walking through the door. We don't pay for health, we don't pay for wellness, we don't pay for equity, we pay for sick.

Community

Subthemes: Partnerships, expertise, role in measurement, exclusion

Across organizations, interviewees emphasized the importance of having healthcare leadership from the community. Naturally, community members are well-positioned to understand the challenges of communities and identify their health needs. Given this, community leaders and organizations are highlighted as key groups that can partner with workers of the healthcare system to guide approaches and execute solutions to address community needs.

"Why do we always have to make the case when we know this is important? I think... the systems need the tools to better work with us so that they don't cause this harm and create more burden."

"Well, I definitely feel like we can shine a light to where the [community] need is."

"It takes intention...we check ourselves throughout the entire process, and it's like okay, [did] we run this by CBOs? Did we get black birthing people's experience? Did we get doulas? Did we get birth workers? Did we really make space for them? And if not, that means we keep going back until we have time to meet with them, and every little change we make, we go back. Is this what we said? We change it. Okay. And so, it goes through a lot of iterations."

Interviewees also explained the importance of incorporating authentic community relationship building throughout institutions and not only within DEI offices and community-focused departments. They also articulated how past measurement efforts used their voices exploitatively without acknowledgement or inclusion in the publication of that work.

"I can give a real-life example really quick. We have an HR department, and our department is doing a presentation, and someone asked a question, when we talk about recruiting, where you're gonna recruit, and how are you guys are gonna build relationships with the HBCUS in the community and the

HR department immediately said, well the DEI department is gonna... I'm like, when you start to say, that's gonna happen over there, that is when we know the authenticity of how we're trying to get at the work, it's not gonna happen."

"We don't need contract care consultants coming in to manage our hospitals, we need home-grown leadership."

"There are reports and there is a publication, and I was sick to my stomach this morning, I was writing a publication for another project, and I came across a publication for our scale work that was funded by Robert Wood Johnson, not a one community-based organization was one of the co-authors of that. So, everybody got fed, got valued. But not us, our voice, used, taken, and exploited to value and prop up other people's careers, but not our own. Now, again, going back to the system operates with or without us, that's what it was designed to do, so they didn't have to put a lot of effort in taking our words and profiting from it, and not including us."

Social Determinants of Health

Subtheme: transportation, income, environment

Across organizations, social determinants of health (SDOH) were consistently highlighted as a missed context for many of the health conditions that are plaguing communities. Interviewees explained how built environmental barriers present challenges to achieving optimal health and wellness. They described barriers to accessing quality health care, through a lack of adequate transportation and economic resources.

"I do really feel like the number one determinant of outcomes are going to be found in that realm of social determinants. I do think it's one of the most important indicators, probably aside from income, [that predicts] how your health is going to be overall. If we could figure out a way to focus our attention and our resources as a community at large, I think that it's going to prove to help the most people."

"In Coos County, it would be easy for somebody to live 30 to 50 miles away from the doctor, and so if they don't have a car, or maybe they only have one car and a family, but that one family member took the car to work and now the other family members at home and they need to go to the doctor, what do they do? That's the type of thing where you have to look at the challenge. It's like, how many people don't have

private, reliable, personal transportation outside of a certain distance of the doctor."

"That's the biggest social determinant to health, is whether or not you've got the money so you can access this healthcare."

"And when you look at government budgets, you will see their priorities, right, small piece goes here, and a small piece goes there, so we start talking about access and people can't get here and there. What is the Department of Transportation doing?"

"You really have to come to the people, because they don't have access to vehicles, they don't have safe roads, unpaved roads. So, to really capture their experience and to measure what is happening as they're going to get healthcare

services, it's really hard, because some of them even their first language out there is Navajo. There are so many barriers for them to really get the story out and see what their needs are and what resources that they need."

"A lot of our people are not even living in homes, some folks are just living in busses, caves, cars, little shacks. Housing is a big issue..."

One interviewee explained the lack of initiative to address the SDOH in their community related to housing, neighborhood factors, environment, support systems, and access to healthcare facilities. In the interviewee's own community, known as Gallup, there are only 22,000 residents but 33 liquor establishments. These liquor establishments are primarily convenience stores that have ceased to sell gasoline and instead focus on selling alcohol to primarily Navajo and Zuni community members. The interviewee explained:

"When people are walking on the street, under the influence, there's a police van that will pick them up and take them to a center where they sober up, and then let them go again, but there's no treatment. So, they just let them go and it's like 26,000 people are picked up in a year in Gallup for being under the influence...and it's just a revolving door. People make money on our issues; they don't really want our people to [recover]. They don't go to the root causes of why our people are on the streets."

Also described were the environmental contributors to negative health outcomes that are not captured in the health care metrics.

"The evidence is all here. Yeah, the maps, the data is available in terms of cancer in Northwest New Mexico, [it's] high as compared to the rest of the state. You [can] overlap the cancer rates with the mining extractive industries."

"That layer of environmental justice, environmental racism, and looking at the whole picture of how we're targeted as a whole people through extractive industries, and how that just totally...destroyed our way of life pretty much through our water, our air, our earth, everything has been contaminated at this point. So, to find clean water, to find land that we're able to prosper off of, it's really hard to find that."

The experience of community suffering is tied directly to the conditions in which people live. These conditions influence health, and as such, are fundamental reasons why capturing lived experience is key to understanding what communities need to achieve optimal health and wellness and to eliminate health disparities.

Structural Racism

Subthemes: inequities for communities of color, bias

Across organizations, interviewees articulated the negative impacts of institutional racism on communities of color. Racism has been built into the healthcare system and has not only contributed to healthcare disparities but has also created barriers to understanding the healthcare needs of vulnerable communities of color. Listed below are interviewee quotes that contextualize the harms of the healthcare system towards marginalized racial groups.

"Our health care system is built off of whiteness and what that means in our country, and so if you are not directly proximate to the individuals that are suffering the most from our healthcare system, you're gonna continue to do what you perceive that they need from a care perspective."

"The health care system is built on white middle class culture, and anything that's not white and not middle class is the problem, so they are firing patients 'cause they missed appointments, and you have low-income, black and brown people who don't have transportation, who don't have funds, who... can't access the measly care that's there. But rather than fix that, we blame and make that the problem as if there's something wrong with the patient and spend money trying to fix a problem that they created. So, when it comes to patient voice and experience, it's not just asking and hearing, it's having a plan to use and change systems along the same time..."

"So, part of the scheme of the Federal government, and when you have United States constitution that's racist, and it

says that African Americans are only three-fifth human, and that...we are merciless savages, were not even human. So as long as we're operating under a racist constitution, all this advocacy and the work that we're doing, we're really not getting to the root cause. We're just working with symptoms and the signs, and racism...Yeah, we're talking about it now, but what are we gonna do about it?"

"You have to humanize the experience, because we already know that there are people in this world, [whom] don't look at us as human. They look at us as like machines or you know, some type of tool. So, to be able to get people's feedback to say, well, when I was in the hospital, I was disrespected in this way...and somebody else may not have felt like it was disrespect...even us being able to bring that to the forefront and say you're in this person's community and you're assisting them with something, that it's literally life or death. You have to change your implicit bias. You have to be able to say, you know what, I was wrong in the way that I was thinking."

Structural racism must be addressed by the healthcare system to change the harmful interactions that people of color have with the healthcare system. The design of the healthcare system in its current form creates experiences of suffering for those who are not white.

Medical Mistrust

Subthemes: exploitation, trauma, healing

One interviewee, who is a member of the indigenous community, discussed the deep sense of mistrust felt towards the United States healthcare system because of long, existing structural inequities, historical trauma, and exploitation as a marginalized population. These experiences are examples of why entire communities do not trust healthcare systems, providers, or staff.

"It's a whole deep relationship that needs to be built, [in order] to get that real quality, even the quantity of feedback and evaluations. I think one of the biggest things that hold Indigenous people back from being a part of research is the historical trauma. The healthcare system has been predatory against Indigenous women and people of color in the 60s when women were being forced sterilized or unknowingly sterilized. It's just like a real kind of trigger for us when it comes down to collecting surveys and being a part of studies

and talking to the Indian Health Service in the hospital, because we have that other layer of trauma."

"My nephew calls it "pimping poverty", and I don't know a better word, because our healthcare business model is built on this exploitation. If they didn't have all these sick, poor Black people and low-income people to exploit, their business model doesn't work. So, they keep it going, and it's intentional and unintentional and that's systemic."

To improve medical mistrust and reach Indigenous and minority communities exploited by the United States healthcare system: (1) it is critical to confront the past and bridge a conversation about how to move towards trusting providers and healthcare leaders; and (2) build a holistic approach for how the United States healthcare delivery system engages and better understands the culture and values of the communities they serve.

"When we go through healing, and we have that open discussion and really have the doctors there and the providers there with the patients and really talk as a community together [it] is so important." "You know, it's been a predatory industry, healthcare, we're not seen as humans, we're just seen as dollar bills, so it's all capitalism that's driving this unequal set up."

Accountability

Subthemes: provider, hospital, local government, federal government, universities, payers, transparency

The issue of accountability was an overarching theme that surfaced in multiple interview sessions with community organizations. Accountable parties were identified as providers, Federal and local government, universities, and payer institutions also known as insurance companies. Interviewees highlighted the importance of holding these stakeholders accountable for providing high-quality, affordable, accessible, and equitable healthcare. Many interviewees stated that the lack of accountability within the healthcare structure plays a key role in preventing equitable health care and that adequate healthcare metrics will still fall short of community need without adequate oversight.

"I think that would be incredible if there's actually laws that are in place to have insurance and hospitals accountable for making sure we have affordable healthcare and that it's accessible. There has to be a limit to the cost."

"I'm looking at my own institution, and I can tell you the years of grant funding that they have got in the name of my community, Maywood, and our community is worse after 30 years and the millions and millions of dollars...the health is worse...the community is worse...and there is no accountability."

"I wanna see the budget. I don't wanna just see the numbers that you choose to share with me. I wanna see the publicly available budget on the part of the system that I'm involved with as a patient. That's one piece of accountability that comes up for me. The second is participatory budgeting at the start, not waiting till things are all messed up, and then looking at it at the end."

"And so I think one of the things that may be useful is to think through which particular positions or offices really need to have the most attention in order to get this into the act phase, because to your point, the information is being collected and then you go through that whole dance about whether or not it's enough data or... like you say, P value and so and so forth. And then once you do get it, it's like, okay, well, duly noted. Thank you so much. You can go back to your seat. And so, I'm really interested in how to get it past that person that tells you, thanks so much, you can go back to your seat

and get it to the person that needs to be able to make those decisions."

"Let's work with what's out there. What is Medicaid doing? What is Medicare doing? What are the health systems doing? What are the insurance systems doing, and where have they been?"

"I don't know who makes decisions. Who puts policy into place? I don't know who that person is. Honestly, I think the Board of Directors got to report to who? Who are the directors of the hospitals or universities? Who do they report to? Who are the board [members], are they community? Because I'd be on the Board of Directors of the university of whatever. Could I be there? I can help them out, on how to do this."

"Sure, but see, here's the other part of problem, accountability. Nobody is being held accountable, and the

process to hold somebody accountable, either A, doesn't exist, or B, is so costly that most people aren't gonna do it, or C, it's so complicated, most people aren't gonna do it."

"Committees are a waste of time. So, unless there is a task and action items can be formed and tracked, cause that's one of the things I did as community advisory council chair. I'd say, we're gonna have a tracker when we make a decision. It's going on the tracker or we're gonna follow it up every meeting to see if our decisions are being implemented. And if not, why not?"

"It's just like these community advisory councils (CAC), the only reason why we have the CAC is because the law says we have to. If there was no law, there'd be no CAC. Whether or not anything gets done, that's irrelevant."

Shift of Power/ Change

Subthemes: power dynamics, decision-making, action

Interviewees described the importance of shared power between healthcare systems and communities as a requirement for achieving meaningful change. They explain the importance of the 'decision maker' role and the need for the person in that position to be known to communities and willing to make the necessary changes to healthcare system regardless of how the decision will be perceived by other individuals with power. Additionally, interviewees pointed out the gap in knowledge that most decision makers possess when it comes to understanding patient needs, and the lack of acknowledgement that persons in those positions often have for the community's experience and perspective.

"The decision-maker has to have the guts to make decisions that will benefit people that are marginalized because those decisions would benefit everybody, but you gotta have the guts first. You can't be in positions and not make tough decisions because of the backlash that you're gonna get from people, and our government has been the biggest perpetuates of that narrative, if you will, when it comes to our community."

"And the problem with the government is, you have people who have the ability to make decisions, they have the

authority to the take action, but they don't have the knowledge that they need to make the proper decision."

"[We] just had an experience with a contract that has some conflict. When they ask for a community voice, we're there, and when they don't like what they hear, which is a total white move, nobody says nothing, and it's as if it wasn't spoken at all, and they only listen and respond to what they wanna hear. That's the power dynamic that happens and why the information doesn't get implemented."

"We look for win wins, and opportunity to share power. I'm actually gonna look for a realistic solution, so that we can find a realistic win-win to change the systems."

Capacity Building

Subthemes: community health representatives, mental health support, compensation

An interviewee highlighted the importance of allocating funding to train and adequately pay community health representatives (CHRs) to improve the work of their organization. CBOs are often understaffed, and their community health workers are underpaid and overworked. CHRs play a critical role in providing services to communities, so it is important to build capacity for CHRs to meet the needs of communities. Another interviewee discussed how capacity building also involves creating space for CHRs to support their mental health. This is necessary given that the work of CHRs can be both physically and mentally exhausting and potentially lead to burnout.

"The whole infrastructure is not even really there, so we do need funding, and the CHRs are extremely underpaid, extremely overworked. Some of them are even grandmas that are driving all day. Each CHR has maybe about one to three maybe around four communities that they have to serve. Very rural communities that literally have no access to running water or electricity. It takes us a whole day, a whole 12-hour day, just to make a food delivery."

"So, speaking to what [my colleague] was saying earlier, this work is hard, and so we have...to ensure that we are also caring for ourselves, and it's like breath work sessions or yoga sessions, learning about nutrition, just having a little turn-up session. We have two self-care days a month. Like this work is very, very, very hard. It's literally about Black maternal mortality. And so, in order for us to be able to show

up, engage with our community partners, do the work ourselves, have our lived experiences, that's something that we have prioritized at [our organization] that is just so so impactful and honestly necessary to do this work well..."

"How can we build our infrastructure to do more of this work where we're not wearing multiple hats



Special thanks

to the participating Community Organizations (COs) that shared their community's perspectives on challenges, needs and goals to co-create patient-centered, equitable healthcare measurement:

- Sam Baugh, Avery Horton, and Doris Kiragu from Advanced Health in Oregon
- Dr. Ganiat Sarumi from African Health Coalition in Illinois
- Jamila Bible from Cambridge Health Alliance in Massachusetts
- Fornessa Randal and Alia Southworth from Asian Health Coalition/Center for Asian Health Equity in Illinois
- Dr. Aimee Budnik from Community Action Agency in Ohio
- Nate Siggers from Federally Qualified Health Center in West Virginia
- Sean Burke from Hamdard Health Alliance Illinois
- Krystal Curley from Indigenous Lifeways in New Mexico
- Kiara Cruz, Latasha Gatling, Carmen Green, Zainab Jah, and Susan Perez from National Birth Equity Collaborative in California
- Anna Rondon from New Mexico Social Justice Equity Institute in New Mexico
- Dr. Lena Hatchett from Proviso in Illinois
- Deanna Durica from Suburban Cook County Department of Public Health in Illinois
- Deniene Willis from Trusted Protection in Illinois
- Fran Mullin from Various Central Maine CBOs in Maine
- Dexter Herbert from YMCA in North Carolina

We would like to thank members of the American Institutes for Research (AIR) for their partnership on the project.

Additionally, we would like to thank members of the ATW Health Solutions team for their design, development, and research on the project:

- Nefertiti OjiNjideka Hemphill, PhD, MS
- Knitasha V. Washington, DHA, MHA FACHE
- Muhammad Khanan Chaudhry, BA
- Nykia Rutledge, BA
- Desiree Bradley
- Zandra Glenn, PharmD, RPh
- Ellen Schultz, MS
- Rukshana Gupta, BA

Correspondence concerning this project should be emailed to both Dr. Nefertiti OjiNjideka Hemphill (Nefertiti.O.Hemphill@atwhealth.com) and Desiree Bradley (Desiree.Bradley@atwhealth.com) or addressed to ATW Health Solutions, 1132 S. Wabash Ave., Suite 304 Chicago, IL 60605

Support for this work was provided by Robert Wood Johnson Foundation. The views expressed here do not necessarily reflect the views of the foundation.